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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, it is still

          3  morning, and let the record reflect that I was here

          4  and ready to start at 11:00, but because of a very

          5  busy agenda by a number of committees, Chair

          6  DeBlasio went first and did that expeditiously,

          7  which I am very appreciative of.

          8                 I also would like to note for the

          9  record that Council Member Christine Quinn, who is a

         10  co-prime sponsor of Intro. No. 690 with me, and will

         11  be joining us shortly, has a Committee meeting of

         12  the Health Committee, and that's why she's not going

         13  to be starting with us, but she obviously is very

         14  concerned and interested in the testimony on Intro.

         15  No. 690 that we'll be hearing shortly and she will

         16  be joining us shortly.

         17                 My name is David Weprin, for those of

         18  you that don't know me, I am Chair of the Finance

         19  Committee. We have a number of members of the

         20  Committee and we'll have more joining us shortly.

         21                 We have Council Member Bill DeBlasio

         22  from Brooklyn, we have our Majority Leader Council

         23  Member Joel Rivera from the Bronx, we have Council

         24  Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, and as I

         25  mentioned, we have a number of other members that
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          2  will be joining us shortly.

          3                 Today we are conducting hearings on

          4  several pieces of legislation.

          5                 The first piece is Intro. No. 690,

          6  which will create a separate utility tax rate for

          7  co-ops that produce and distribute their own energy

          8  to tenants. I see we also have a special guest in

          9  the back. We have a former Assembly Speaker Mel

         10  Miller in the back. Welcome Speaker Miller.

         11                 This bill, Intro. No. 690, stems from

         12  recent cases in which both North Shore Towers Co-Op

         13  located in my district in Queens and Penn South

         14  located in Council Member Christine Quinn's district

         15  in Manhattan, were subject to the 2.35 percent

         16  utility tax as a result of providing submetered

         17  energy to tenants.

         18                 The irony is that if these co-ops did

         19  not submeter in an attempt to conserve energy, they

         20  would not be subject to the tax.

         21                 These co-ops should not be punished

         22  for providing submetered energy to tenants in an

         23  environmental-friendly and fiscally prudent manner.

         24                 I'd also like to note that this tax

         25  or lack of collection of this utility tax, which I
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          2  strongly believe should not apply to co-ops and such

          3  hence the legislation today, it was only discovered

          4  by the Department of Finance because of the blackout

          5  we had two years ago. If you remember, two years

          6  ago, around this time probably this week two years

          7  ago, there was a blackout in the entire City and

          8  North Shore Towers in my district, as well as Penn

          9  South in Manhattan were a shining bright light in an

         10  otherwise sea of darkness throughout the entire

         11  City, in the case of North Shore Towers, throughout

         12  the entire Long Island.

         13                 So, as a result, they were very proud

         14  of that fact. It was well publicized. It was on TV,

         15  it was in the newspapers, it was on radio, and as a

         16  result I believe the Department of Finance took a

         17  look at this and said have we been billing North

         18  Shore Towers and Penn South for this utility tax of

         19  20 years ago? And they looked up and they said, no,

         20  we have not, and as a result they got a back bill of

         21  20 years of utility taxes, which in the case of both

         22  North Shore Towers and Penn South, came to over a

         23  million dollars.

         24                 Due to certain negotiations with the

         25  Department of Finance, in my case with North Shore
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          2  Towers and myself and my office, we were able to

          3  negotiate that bill with Department of Finance from

          4  over a million dollars to a little bit over

          5  $100,000.

          6                 My understanding is Council Member

          7  Christine Quinn, along with the leadership at Penn

          8  South, was able to negotiate a similar settlement

          9  from a million dollar bill or so to about $100,000.

         10                 But we feel very strongly this

         11  legislation not apply to co-ops and hence this

         12  legislation, and we will be hearing from the

         13  Department of Finance on this momentarily, so we'd

         14  be very happy to hear what their official position

         15  is, and, of course, we'll be hearing from

         16  representatives of both North Shore Towers and Penn

         17  South.

         18                 The second piece of legislation

         19  before us involves a somewhat similar issue. In this

         20  particular case, solar energy. It would allow the

         21  City to opt into a sales tax exemption that would

         22  exempt the sale and installation of residential,

         23  solar energy systems equipment from the local sales

         24  tax.

         25                 This tax incentive will spur the
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          2  increased installation of these clean renewable

          3  energy systems in the City which in turn will have a

          4  positive effect on the environment.

          5                 In addition to these matters we will

          6  also be considering a resolution supporting a

          7  referendum on the use of the portion of the campaign

          8  for fiscal equity money due to the City from the

          9  State for class size reduction.

         10                 Finally, we will consider a

         11  resolution that would set September 15th as the

         12  first hearing date for the establishment of the

         13  DUMBO BID in the Borough of Brooklyn.

         14                 Our first witness to testify will be

         15  on Intro. No. 690. I see we've been joined by a few

         16  more colleagues. We have Council Member Robert

         17  Jackson from Manhattan and Council Member Tish James

         18  from Brooklyn, and now we'll hear testimony on

         19  Intro. No. 690, and the first witness will be

         20  representing the Commissioner of Finance of the City

         21  of New York, Martha Stark, and that will be Michael

         22  Hyman, Assistant Commissioner for Tax Policy. And

         23  he'll be joined by Sam Miller.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Good

         25  morning, Chairman Weprin and members of the
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          2  Committee on Finance.

          3                 My name is Michael Hyman. I am the

          4  Assistant Commissioner for Tax Policy of the

          5  Department of Finance.

          6                 On behalf of Finance Commissioner

          7  Martha E. Stark, I want to thank you for inviting me

          8  to testify today on Intro. 690.

          9                 Intro. 690 would effectively exempt

         10  from City utility tax certain cooperative apartment

         11  developments that generate their own electricity.

         12                 In order to qualify for a utility tax

         13  rate of zero percent, the cooperative corporation

         14  would have to have at least 1,500 units and

         15  furniture, cell electricity, steam, refrigeration or

         16  water generator or produced by a cogeneration

         17  facility, owned or operated by the co-op corporation

         18  to tenants or occupants or development on a metered

         19  basis.

         20                 Currently there are only a few

         21  developments that would qualify. Despite the narrow

         22  focus of this bill, the Finance Department is

         23  inclined to support Intro. 690 because existing law

         24  is unclear and inconsistent regarding the City's

         25  authority to collect the utility tax from co-op
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          2  developments that have cogeneration facilities.

          3                 Some cooperatives that produce their

          4  own energy do not separately meter and separately

          5  charge residents for utility usage. Current law does

          6  not provide clear authority for the City to require

          7  these co-ops to pay the utility tax, and they

          8  currently do not do so.

          9                 Some co-ops that do separately meter

         10  residents pay the utility tax. The distinction

         11  between co-ops that meter and those that do not

         12  seems arbitrary, after all, in both cases the

         13  cooperative is cogenerating its own energy, only the

         14  billing method is different.

         15                 For this reason, finance is inclined

         16  to support Intro. 690 as a way to treat residential

         17  developments with cogeneration facilities

         18  consistently under the utility tax.

         19                 The Department of Finance support of

         20  the bill is tempered by two concerns: As you know,

         21  the enabling authority for the utility tax is

         22  complicated, and it is questionable whether the City

         23  has the ability on its own to grant an exemption

         24  from the utility tax, either directly or by reducing

         25  the rate to zero for certain properties.
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          2                 There may be grounds for another

          3  development or property owner to challenge the City

          4  Authority to grant such an exemption via local law.

          5                 The Law Department is continuing to

          6  review this concern.

          7                 Also, as I mentioned earlier, the

          8  Finance Department is usually reluctant to support

          9  legislation as narrow as Intro. 690.

         10                 In the case of the utility tax, we

         11  believe that there are broader issues that need to

         12  be reviewed, because the tax is antiquated and in

         13  need of significant revisions.

         14                 We look forward to working with the

         15  City Council on modernizing the City's tax treatment

         16  of energy cells.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm happy to say

         19  welcome aboard. Happy to see the Administration and

         20  the Department of Finance now on board and hopefully

         21  this legislation will move swiftly.

         22                 We've been joined by a few more

         23  colleagues. We have Council Member Simcha Felder

         24  from Brooklyn, and Council Member Oliver Koppell

         25  from the Bronx. Two more members of this Committee.
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          2                 We'll now hear from -- thank you. Any

          3  of my colleagues have any questions?

          4                 Council Member Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: To the best of

          6  your knowledge, these are the only two developments

          7  that currently fall under this situation?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Covered

          9  by the legislation? There are a few. There are a

         10  limited number. There could be one or two other, but

         11  it's a very small population.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes. Actually,

         13  there are a number of buildings that are currently

         14  co-ops that are not submetering or cogeneration at

         15  this point that are contemplating it, and obviously

         16  part of their decision-making thought process is

         17  where they would have to pay this tax.

         18                 So, in a sense, by passing this

         19  legislation, Warbasse Houses in Council Member

         20  Domenic Recchia's district comes to mind, by passing

         21  this legislation we're actually going to be

         22  encouraging them to save energy to submeter and

         23  adopt cogeneration.

         24                 So, I think it's a very positive step

         25  in encouraging other co-ops from doing this that
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          2  currently are not subject --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's why I

          4  was asking.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          7                 Any other questions?

          8                 Thank you. My best to Commissioner

          9  Stark.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER HYMAN: Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We will now hear

         13  from Walter Mankoff from Penn South.

         14                 MR. MANKOFF: Thank you. Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman.

         16                 My name is Walter Mankoff. I'm the

         17  treasurer of Penn South, a limited equity co-op in

         18  Chelsea. We have 2,820 apartments, and have provided

         19  low- and moderate-income families with high quality

         20  affordable housing for over 43 years.

         21                 We've always been socially conscious.

         22  Over the years we've invested in programs that

         23  conserve energy, reduce pollution, and cut water

         24  use.

         25                 We're proud of our contribution,
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          2  particularly with regard to electricity.

          3                 In 1982 we began submetering in order

          4  to discourage energy waste.

          5                 Electric usage in apartments dropped

          6  by a third, and in the first year we saved close to

          7  2 million kilowatts of electricity.

          8                 In 1986 we began sub-cogenerating

          9  electricity and used the waste heat productively to

         10  heat buildings or make hot water.

         11                 Again we reduced energy usage and

         12  pollution.

         13                 In 2000, we opened the new generating

         14  plant fueled by natural gas, to meet the tightened

         15  pollution requirements.

         16                 In 2003, we were shocked and dismayed

         17  to be audited and received a bill from the Finance

         18  Department for $1.4 million covering taxes, interest

         19  and penalties for a 17-year period.

         20                 Apparently, strict interpretation of

         21  the City's utility tax law had placed our co-op that

         22  generates power for its own use in a class with

         23  large utilities that sell electricity as a business.

         24                 Fortunately, reason prevails. The

         25  City agreed to settle this matter on payment of
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          2  three years back taxes and interest, we paid around

          3  $110,000.

          4                 Present policy makes no sense. If we

          5  meter to discourage waste, we get taxed. If we

          6  abandon metering and allow waste to continue the tax

          7  disappears.

          8                 This flies in the face of

          9  longstanding government policy to encourage using

         10  less electricity in the interest of conserving our

         11  natural resources and reducing pollution.

         12                 To cite just one example, New York

         13  City has for many years offered J-51 tax benefits to

         14  help pay for the installation of meters in

         15  individual apartments.

         16                 Intro. 690 corrects the contradiction

         17  posed by the present law, by eliminating the utility

         18  tax on a co-op supplying power to its own occupants.

         19                 The amount of tax involved, about

         20  50,000 a year for Penn South, is hardly a blip on

         21  the City's angle budget. Not even a huge amount for

         22  Penn South, although these days of rising fuel

         23  costs, every dollar is very, very important.

         24                 Mainly a matter of principle. We

         25  should not encourage waste, we should discourage it.
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          2                 We urge the Committee and the Council

          3  to pass this legislation, and hope the Mayor will

          4  recognize its logic and fairness and sign it into

          5  law as soon as possible.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Mankoff.

          9                 We've been joined by Council Member

         10  Helen Sears from Queens and Council Member Christine

         11  Quinn, who is a co-prime sponsor with me of this

         12  legislation, Intro. 690, and I referred to the fact

         13  earlier that she was having her own hearing, but I

         14  believe she would like to make a statement on the

         15  legislation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         18  Quinn.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         20                 Just quickly, I would urge my

         21  colleagues to support this bill because at the three

         22  complexes, one in my district, one in Council Member

         23  Weprin's and soon one in Domenic Recchia's, these

         24  are all examples of affordable housing buildings

         25  which have done, years ago, the environmentally
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          2  correct thing, and created not just cogeneration

          3  facilities in their own buildings, but also

          4  submetered, and what that does is make people think

          5  about the impact of turning their lights on or

          6  leaving the air conditioning on when they're not

          7  there, et cetera, and has really, we've seen in Penn

          8  South, the usage of energy decrease significantly

          9  since the submetering and the energy generation has

         10  begun.

         11                 And the present situation is an

         12  example kind of of no good deed going unpunished.

         13  These folks took responsibility for their own

         14  buildings. They did the environmentally correct and

         15  conservation thing, and now the City is trying to

         16  treat them like they're a mini Con Ed, and we need

         17  to fix and address and get rid of the loophole in

         18  the law that lets that happen.

         19                 If we don't, one, it has the

         20  financial long-term impact to be quite detrimental

         21  to these places like Penn South, which we want to be

         22  supporting and help to stay alive, not making their

         23  books harder to deal with. And in addition, it will

         24  create a situation where no other building will ever

         25  do this, because they could not bear the financial
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          2  impact in the longrun of being treated like a mini

          3  Con Ed.

          4                 So, I thank the Chair for having this

          5  hearing so quickly, and I urge my colleagues, when

          6  we get to the point of voting today, to support this

          7  effort.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Quinn.

         10                 MR. MANKOFF: May I thank Council

         11  Member Quinn now that she's here for her support and

         12  effort on our behalf. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So noted. Any

         14  other questions for Mr. Mankoff?

         15                 Council Member Sears.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 When these buildings assumed this

         19  responsibility, was the conversion, or generating

         20  their own power, was that helped by the federal

         21  government? I'm thinking in terms of solar energy

         22  because when solar energy was propelled, the federal

         23  government helped that initiative.

         24                 MR. MANKOFF: I'm sorry, could you

         25  just speak a bit louder?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Oh, sure. Sure.

          3  My question is, when these buildings when into

          4  generating their own part, was this helped by the

          5  federal government? Because when solar energy was

          6  initiated in the City of New York, the federal

          7  government helped to do that.

          8                 MR. MANKOFF: No. At the time we did

          9  it, now, that goes back more than 20 years, there

         10  was no assistance available for cogeneration at the

         11  time. We did it entirely on our own at our own cost.

         12                 Now I think, now there are programs

         13  that are available I believe through either NYSERDA

         14  at the State level, and possibly even at the federal

         15  level and that should be encouraged to the greatest

         16  possible extent because it does save energy.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

         18                 MR. MANKOFF: The City gives you J-51

         19  if you put in the meters --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I agree.

         21                 MR. MANKOFF: Then they tax you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I just wanted

         23  to know what the role of federal government is.

         24                 MR. MANKOFF: No, there was no aid at

         25  that time.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

          3                 MR. MANKOFF: We did it entirely on

          4  our own. But there was a tremendous saving as a

          5  result of this entire new technology and new process

          6  and waste saving going into effect.

          7                 So, we had enough money to pay for

          8  the process without any additional aid at the time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Fine. Thank

         10  you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Mankoff.

         13                 MR. MANKOFF: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you for

         15  coming in.

         16                 The next witness is Robert Serikstad,

         17  CPA, and Comptroller and Assistant Treasurer at

         18  North Shore Towers.

         19                 MR. SERIKSTAD: Good morning, Chairman

         20  Weprin and members of the Committee.

         21                 My name is Robert Serikstad, CPA, and

         22  I am here as Controller of North Shore Towers and I

         23  also serve as the Assistant Treasurer of that

         24  Complex. Thank you for the invitation to testify

         25  before you on this measure.
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          2                 North Shore Towers is an 1,844 unit

          3  cooperative housing complex located in Queens, New

          4  York.

          5                 During construction electric meters

          6  were installed servicing each unit in the complex.

          7  Electric charges have been imposed based upon meter

          8  readings since inception in 1974.

          9                 Although the initial cost of

         10  installing the meters and the ongoing cost of

         11  reading the meters was substantial, it is

         12  indisputable that the meters have resulted in

         13  cleaner air and a conservation of natural resources.

         14                 Under current law, the metered

         15  distribution by cooperative housing corporations of

         16  electricity results in taxable receipts with respect

         17  to the New York City utility tax.

         18                 Alternatively, a cooperative housing

         19  corporation providing unbridled use of electricity

         20  in the absence of meters is not subject to payment

         21  of the New York City utility tax.

         22                 Currently, by doing the socially

         23  right thing, apartment owners face an additional tax

         24  burden. You have taken steps to rectify this tax

         25  inequity. The people of North Shore Towers
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          2  respectfully request passage of this legislation,

          3  and thank you for your kind consideration of the

          4  measure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Serikstad. And thank you for bringing this issue to

          7  my attention, and we're very happy that we were able

          8  to act expeditiously and move forward.

          9                 MR. SERIKSTAD: Kindest thanks, Mr.

         10  Weprin.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions?

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 MR. SERIKSTAD: Thank you. Thank you

         14  so much.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: May I have a

         16  question, Mr. Chairman, perhaps for you?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Oh, sure.

         18                 Council Member Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: This deals

         20  with the power generated by cogeneration, is that

         21  it?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes. And

         23  submetered co-ops.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It's not in

         25  my district, but I was just wondering whether this
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          2  has any implications or any implications required

          3  for co-op City?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It could

          5  potentially if Co-op City decided to submeter; are

          6  they submetering now?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: They're not. If

          9  they did decide some time in the future it would

         10  have that implication because under the tax as it

         11  exists they could be taxed if they started to

         12  submeter.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They don't

         14  get taxed because they include it in the rent.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I see. Good.

         17  Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But at some time

         19  in the future they might decide to, and that's why

         20  it's a good idea to pass this legislation, anyway.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm being a

         22  little protective of my colleagues, I guess. But it

         23  was interesting, because I know they produce their

         24  own power.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

          4  questions?

          5                 The next witness is Greg Carlson from

          6  the Federation of New York Housing Cooperatives and

          7  Condos.

          8                 MR. CARLSON: Good morning, everyone.

          9                 Good day, Councilperson, Chairperson

         10  Weprin, and members of the Committee. I am Gregory

         11  J. Carlson. I'm the Executive Director of the

         12  Federation of New York Housing Cooperatives and

         13  Condominiums. The Federation is a not-for-profit

         14  member association. Our membership consists of

         15  approximately 600 buildings, which constitutes

         16  approximately 150,000 worth of co-ops and

         17  condominium units.

         18                 Recently President Bush signed a US

         19  Energy Policy Act of 2005. This is the official US

         20  policy regarding electricity to promote demand

         21  response from consumers and to eliminate any barrier

         22  that interferes with this policy.

         23                 We believe that Intro. 690 will

         24  eliminate one of those barriers. The federation was

         25  also instrumental in conceiving the cooperative
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          2  coalition to prevent blackouts.

          3                 We have meetings, ongoing meetings,

          4  with NYSERDA, the Public Service Commission, also

          5  with New York City's Economic Development

          6  Corporation, and with many countless members of the

          7  federal, state, local legislators and staff, all

          8  concerning electricity conservation.

          9                 By eliminating this tax, the ones as

         10  I've heard before from some of the City Council

         11  members, the ones that are contemplating going to

         12  submetering, because submetering has proven

         13  throughout the years to conserve at least 15 to 20

         14  percent electricity uses, is a known fact, all

         15  right? And in order to do that, and we have such a

         16  limited amount of electricity that comes and funnels

         17  into New York City, it is behoovant (sic) upon us to

         18  look for ways to help conserve and reduce

         19  electricity.

         20                 So, those people that are even

         21  considering it, all right? Are now withdrawn because

         22  of this potential tax. Many of my members, even

         23  though right now this bill covers the threshold of

         24  1,500 units, there is advancing technology about

         25  cogeneration. Many, many smaller buildings are
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          2  looking into the matter. When this hit the headline

          3  papers about this tax, many of my members stopped.

          4  Is this the type of policy that we want to encourage

          5  co-ops and condominiums, and the housing, the

          6  residential side of the community, about conserving

          7  electricity when we're tweaking by each day, trying

          8  to, as our electricity consumption grows and grows

          9  and grows without any capacity building?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No.

         11                 MR. CARLSON: Right, okay. So, I want

         12  you to know the federation does support, strongly

         13  supports, Intro. 690 and I hope in the future it

         14  will look to lessen that threshold for other

         15  buildings that might want to go into this project.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Carlson.

         18                 MR. CARLSON: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any questions of

         20  Mr. Carlson?

         21                 Thank you for coming.

         22                 MR. CARLSON: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We'll now hear

         24  from Anthony Pereira, who is going to testify on the

         25  preconsidered reso on the sales tax exemption.
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          2                 We've also been joined by Council

          3  Member Larry Seabrook, from the Bronx.

          4                 And Council Member Leroy Comrie from

          5  Queens, Majority Whip.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA: Hello. Thank you,

          7  Chairperson Weprin and Council members.

          8                 My name is Anthony Pereira. I am the

          9  President of the New York Solar Energy Industry

         10  Association. I am also a President and CEO of

         11  AltPower, which is a company located here in

         12  Manhattan that specializes in solar and win

         13  installations.

         14                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         15  hear us and our support of the local resolution to

         16  have a sales tax exemption, a local sales tax

         17  exemption for solar energy systems installed on

         18  residential buildings and homes.

         19                 Just to give you a quick update,

         20  solar is definitely happening here in New York City.

         21  There are numerous projects not far from City Hall,

         22  including, but not limited to, we're on our sixth

         23  project at Battery Park City. There are two projects

         24  in Greenpoint that are the two largest

         25  privately-owned solar energy systems in the City.
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          2  We'll be installing a solar electric system on Bronx

          3  Science High School this fall, as well as the Queens

          4  Botanical Gardens this winter, and the New York Hall

          5  of Science as well late fall.

          6                 New York City actually happens to be

          7  one of the better locations in the entire

          8  continental US to install solar electric systems for

          9  two reasons; number one, as a high energy cost of

         10  the region, and number two, is the incidence of

         11  solar availability during our peak demand. And the

         12  peak demand is constantly happening on days like

         13  today. It's a sunny, hot day that at about 1:00

         14  p.m., Con Edison is going to be struggling to meet

         15  its peak, and the key word is sunny, today is the

         16  day that solar energy exists, and when you looked at

         17  the graph that was passed around, you will see a

         18  blackout that occurred on July 6th, 1999, and that

         19  blackout was much worse than the blackout two years

         20  ago, that we're just about to have an anniversary

         21  of, in that blackout there were actually deaths

         22  caused by people overheating, mostly elderly people.

         23                 So, what we're saying is that solar

         24  couldn't have stopped that blackout because there

         25  wouldn't have been enough of it, and there were some
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          2  other technical reasons why that happened.

          3                 But in general enough solar power

          4  distributed around New York City will reduce the

          5  demand that Con Edison has on a day-to-day basis on

          6  the hottest days. Those days again are sunny days,

          7  implementing solar throughout the City will also

          8  increase the number of jobs in the local area, month

          9  to month, year to year the number of solar companies

         10  in the City has increased, the number of jobs have

         11  increased, and thus, there is income generated from

         12  income tax revenue and all the people that are

         13  starting to work in the solar energy industry.

         14                 So, it's really an important time and

         15  a resolution such as this will really help to start

         16  to see installation on a residential basis.

         17                 So, in conclusion, I'd like to thank

         18  you again for the time and the focus on using solar

         19  energy more in New York City, and please support and

         20  pass the local sales tax exemption, so that we can

         21  combine it with the state sales tax exemption and

         22  get more systems installed and make a safer and

         23  environmentally cleaner city here in New York, and

         24  if you have any questions --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Pereira, for coming. Any questions?

          3                 Council Member Rivera.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          5  much, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to find out, can

          6  the solar panels be applied to any residential

          7  building? Is there a limit to any amount of

          8  apartments a building can have?

          9                 MR. PEREIRA: The limits are based on

         10  the amount of available square footage of either

         11  roof or facade square footage availability, really

         12  that. And without in consideration of shading, and,

         13  you know, being able to get the Fire Department

         14  safely on a roof or do maintenance work on a roof,

         15  essentially almost every surface in New York City is

         16  available for us to do it. And just using a fraction

         17  of that, there's been studies that, the University

         18  of Albany actually created this graph, and Dr.

         19  Richard Perez has done a lot of research --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's my alma

         21  mater.

         22                 MR. PEREIRA: What's that?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's my alma

         24  mater.

         25                 MR. PEREIRA: All right.
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          2                 Well, it's one of the leaders in

          3  solar research in the country, and it's shown that

          4  New York City actually can power all of its peak

          5  demand power from solar energy, at least 500

          6  megawatts worth. There are enough roof space, enough

          7  facade space to do this, so it's just a matter of

          8  time before it can actually happen.

          9                 And a lot of the product, the product

         10  that we've used in Battery Park City, for instance,

         11  is mostly locally American-made products. GE Energy,

         12  General Electric down in New Delaware, which is only

         13  a hundred miles away, actually manufactured all the

         14  solar cells. So, it's a lot of local jobs. It's

         15  still an American thing for energy, and that's a

         16  rarity these days.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And I also

         18  just wanted to find out, how do we retrofit the

         19  older buildings? Is it difficult?

         20                 MR. PEREIRA: It's not difficult at

         21  all. I came, climbed off of a roof this morning out

         22  at Greenpoint Manufacturing Design Center in

         23  Manhattan Avenue. We were retrofitting a building

         24  from the late 1800s. So, it's completely possible.

         25  Sure there's cases where it's not, but in general, I
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          2  have no fear that most buildings have the potential

          3  to do something on it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Good. I hope

          5  we can get as many buildings retrofitted with solar

          6  panels as we can.

          7                 MR. PEREIRA: Great. Thanks.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          9  Council Member.

         10                 We've been joined by Council Member

         11  Eric Gioia from Queens.

         12                 Council Member Comrie.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'll be brief.

         14                 Do you have a contact? Did you submit

         15  written testimony with a phone number or a contact

         16  number?

         17                 MR. PEREIRA: Donna DeCostanzo has my

         18  contact information. I did not submit written

         19  testimony in the short time I had.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         21                 Are you part of NYSAFA?

         22                 MR. PEREIRA: I'm sorry?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are you part

         24  of NYSAFA?

         25                 MR. PEREIRA: NYSERDA?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: NYSERDA.

          3                 MR. PEREIRA: Actually, a lot of

          4  projects we do are funded by NYSERDA.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 MR. PEREIRA: So that is something

          7  that's very important to all of this. NYSERDA --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What's the

          9  name of your organization?

         10                 MR. PEREIRA: My organization is the

         11  New York Solar Energy Industry Association, which

         12  has well over 100 members locally.

         13                 In New York City there is close to

         14  ten members alone. And my company is Altpower, which

         15  is a local installer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         17                 Now, what would your relationship be

         18  to NYSERDA?

         19                 MR. PEREIRA: Well, to NYSERDA, if we

         20  had a typical project, say, for instance, Bronx

         21  Science, as an example, we'll be installing a solar

         22  electric system there, and NYSERDA is buying down 50

         23  percent of that system's cost.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         25                 But I was told that individuals would
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          2  call NYSERDA if they were interested in doing --

          3                 MR. PEREIRA: That's right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And then

          5  NYSERDA would recommend the contractor?

          6                 MR. PEREIRA: That's right.

          7                 Actually, NYSERDA has a requirement

          8  for contractors. In order to be eligible to take

          9  that state funding and spend it on a project, you

         10  have to meet a certain requirement, and on NYSERDA's

         11  website they have a list of eligible installing

         12  companies.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And your

         14  company is on NYSERDA's website.

         15                 MR. PEREIRA: That's correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         17  right, thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Council Member DeBlasio.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 Just a quick question. You had said

         24  that the potential for use of solar in New York City

         25  is very great; could you describe what the needs or
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          2  stumbling blocks are to get us closer to that

          3  potential, just so we understand?

          4                 MR. PEREIRA: I'm glad you asked that

          5  question, because one of the biggest, I know we're

          6  talking about a residential sales tax exemption

          7  here, but the reality of peak demand in New York

          8  City occurs on weekdays, and mainly because of the

          9  use of power by businesses, and we certainly have to

         10  move in the direction of getting larger systems in,

         11  and those will be done mainly on commercial

         12  buildings for obvious reasons, just because they're

         13  bigger themselves. And anything that we can do to

         14  help increased installation on commercial buildings,

         15  the solar systems would be helpful, and the sales

         16  tax exemption on the commercial side, even just City

         17  sales tax exemption, would be very helpful. But also

         18  the City Council could help with some of the issues

         19  we've run into with the utility interconnection

         20  problems. You know, with any kind of generation on a

         21  building, we talked about cogeneration. Con Edison

         22  at a certain point can charge a higher kilowatt hour

         23  rate, or a higher tariff when an entity installs

         24  generation or distributed generation, not

         25  necessarily cogen but any kind of generation on
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          2  their building or property, they can actually get

          3  bumped up into a higher kilowatt rate, which

          4  obviously is a penalty for doing any of this. So,

          5  that's something else that, you know, has to be

          6  looked at.

          7                 Con Edison has a good argument for

          8  that, in that they have to always be ready to cover

          9  the load that the generation system the building

         10  has, say it went out all of a sudden, well that

         11  building is going to want instantaneously the power

         12  to continue, Con Edison has to be ready and prepared

         13  for that, and that costs them money. The question is

         14  how much and who should you penalize for that?

         15  Especially in the case of clean generation. It's

         16  important that we try to encourage it from wind

         17  power and fuel cells and solar electric systems,

         18  they're not creating any pollution, it's really

         19  critical also in this City which has a really high

         20  asthma rate amongst children, one of the highest in

         21  the world.

         22                 So, it's not only about the pollution

         23  reduction, I mean the energy demand reduction, the

         24  peak demand reduction, it also has to do with

         25  pollution, so I'm encouraging these non-polluting

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  peak generating energy sources, it's as important,

          3  going in the commercial direction is the next step.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. Thank

          8  you for coming.

          9                 MR. PEREIRA: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, we didn't

         11  have a slip so it was an oversight, but we're going

         12  to go back to testimony on Intro 690 and we'll hear

         13  from Eliyanna Kaiser, representing Assemblyman

         14  Richard Gottfried, who is the Assemblyman

         15  representing Penn South and a strong supporter of

         16  this legislation and has been an outspoken advocate

         17  for this legislation and for the injustice that is

         18  occurring.

         19                 MS. KAISER: Thank you. I'm not going

         20  to actually read the full testimony, providing

         21  copies for you. Assembly Member Gottfried wanted me

         22  to thank the prime sponsors and the sponsors of this

         23  introduction for dealing with this issue because he

         24  does believe it's very important.

         25                 Penn South is an area that Assembly
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          2  Member Gottfried shares with Christine Quinn, and

          3  that is how the issue came to our attention.

          4                 We wanted to let the Council know of

          5  a State bill that Assembly Member Gottfried

          6  sponsored. On the state level, the sales tax issue

          7  is the same. There's a tax imposed on these

          8  cooperative -- on these co-ops and they're treated

          9  like utility companies, as well, from a State sales

         10  and use tax perspective.

         11                 And, so, the Assembly Member

         12  sponsored a state bill which passed both houses in

         13  the State this past legislative session, the

         14  Assembly and the Senate and it's before the Governor

         15  for signature now. And, so, he wanted me to come

         16  here and express to the Council that one of the

         17  things that we really hope that you're doing with

         18  this instruction is that you're going to be sending

         19  a message to Governor Pataki that this is something

         20  that is important to New York City and that's one

         21  thing that we're very happy that you're doing here.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         24                 And send our regards to the

         25  Assemblyman.
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          2                 We'll now hear from George Glatter on

          3  the proposed DUMBO resolution.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: Good

          5  afternoon, Chairman Weprin, and members of the

          6  Finance Committee.

          7                 I am George Glatter, an Assistant

          8  Commissioner at the Department of Small Business

          9  Services.

         10                 SBS supports the City Council

         11  resolution setting the date, time and place for the

         12  public hearing concerning the establishment of the

         13  DUMBO Business Improvement District in the Borough

         14  of Brooklyn.

         15                 The DUMBO BID Steering Committee has

         16  successfully completed the outreach work consistent

         17  with SBS program rules.

         18                 In addition, SBS has reviewed the

         19  boundaries of the proposed BID and found the

         20  boundaries to be acceptable.

         21                 The proposed BID includes properties

         22  located in and around the general area down by the

         23  waterfront, extending from the East River Waterfront

         24  to Old Fulton Street, Front Street, York Street,

         25  Bridge Street, Plymouth Street and Gold Street to
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          2  the East River Waterfront.

          3                 SBS will arrange for the publication

          4  of a summary of the City Council resolution at least

          5  once in the City Record.

          6                 The DUMBO BID Steering Committee will

          7  arrange for a mailing of a summary of the

          8  resolution, as required by law.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Glatter.

         12                 Since there are other hearings that

         13  have to take place, we've also been joined by

         14  Council Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan, and

         15  Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island.

         16  We're going to call for a vote on the three

         17  preconsidered resolutions. That's the DUMBO

         18  resolution, the sales tax exemption for solar panels

         19  and the resolution in support of class size

         20  referendum.

         21                 Call the roll.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye on

          6  all.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I vote aye,

          9  and I think we should turn the air conditioning down

         10  in City Hall to conserve energy. Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes on

         18  all.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye on all.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Felder.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye on all.

          5  And with regard to the air conditioning, no way,

          6  baby. Keep it as high as possible, with all the hot

          7  air in this building.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Announce the

          9  results.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 13 in the

         11  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         12  abstentions, all preconsidered items are adopted.

         13  Council members, please sign the Committee Reports.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Please sign the

         16  Committee reports, Council members.

         17                 I'm going to keep the roll open until

         18  before the Stated Meeting for those members that are

         19  in and around the building and approach me before

         20  the Stated Meeting starts.

         21                 Other than that, we're adjourned.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Committee on Finance,

         23  preconsidered resolutions. Council Member Fidler.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Should I

         25  explain my vote?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, okay. Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

          5  Gallagher.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Oddo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         10  16 in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         11  abstentions.

         12                 Council Member Gennaro, preconsidered

         13  resolutions, Committee on Finance.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Aye on all.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         16  17 in the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

         17  abstentions.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)
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